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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: The General

          3  Welfare Committee and the Committee on Women's

          4  Issues is called to order.

          5                 Please turn off your cell phones, if

          6  you haven't already. I'm Bill DeBlasio, Chair of

          7  General Welfare Committee. I'd like to welcome

          8  everyone today including, especially, my co-chair,

          9  Tracy Boyland and two members of General Welfare

         10  Committee, Gale Brewer and Annabell Palma. We expect

         11  Council Member David Yassky very shortly, who is the

         12  author of the legislation before us today, Intro

         13  305.

         14                 I'm just going to say the simplest

         15  and most obvious thing. We looked at this

         16  legislation last year. There's tremendous support in

         17  the Council for this legislation. There was some

         18  more work to be done, but I think we come into this

         19  new year with a real sense of momentum to make sure

         20  that we can pass legislation that provides real

         21  protection for victims and survivors of domestic

         22  violence in the field of housing.

         23                 We want to work with everyone

         24  concerned to make sure this legislation is both

         25  effective and realistic. We certainly want to
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          2  recognize that the vast majority of landlords and

          3  other folks involved with housing do want to do the

          4  right thing by victims and survivors of domestic

          5  violence.

          6                 What we're seeking in this

          7  legislative process is a way to ensure that rights

          8  are protected more fully than ever before, but at

          9  the same time, respect the fact that there are many,

         10  many good landlords who want to do the right thing.

         11                 We have to find the right balance. I

         12  think the wording of this legislation today achieves

         13  that. So, we look forward to testimony in just a few

         14  moments.

         15                 I'm going to turn it over to my

         16  colleague and fellow chair, Tracy Boyland. I want to

         17  thank her for her leadership on everything related

         18  to the field of domestic violence. She's been an

         19  outstanding leader and has helped to dramatize an

         20  issue which everyone in this room knows often

         21  doesn't get the attention and the honest discussion

         22  it deserves.

         23                 Then in the interest of schedule,

         24  we're going to let Gale Brewer say a few words

         25  because she has to go to another event. We want to
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          2  be sure that she gets a chance to get her input

          3  before she leaves. It's my honor to turn it over to

          4  Tracy Boyland.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair DeBlasio. Welcome. I am happy to host this

          7  hearing of the Women's Issues and General Welfare

          8  Committee with Council Member Bill DeBlasio.

          9                 Looking into Intro No. 305. As you

         10  know, Intro 305 will essentially require landlords

         11  to release victims of domestic violence, sex

         12  offenses and stalking from their leases or tenants

         13  if the survivors provides them with the certificate

         14  from a lawyer, member of the clergy or a medical or

         15  social service provider.

         16                 As Chair of the Women's Issues

         17  Committee, I see this legislation as part of this

         18  Council's broader work to expand the protection and

         19  services available to the survivors of domestic and

         20  sexual violence.

         21                 In the last year and half, we have

         22  passed or introduced legislation that creates

         23  reasonable accommodations for these victims in the

         24  area of employment; prohibits the City from denying

         25  domestic violence victims emergency shelter or
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          2  services solely based on a lack of documented

          3  evidence; and that would bring together all the

          4  major City agencies that deal with domestic violence

          5  victims to form a Fatality Review Board dedicated to

          6  reviewing domestic violence deaths, to look for

          7  signs where City systems break down.

          8                 Last year we convened a high level

          9  task force to examine broad policy issues involving

         10  domestic violence victims and housing. And since

         11  this is budget season, I should note that the

         12  Council continues to fund innovative programs

         13  addressing domestic violence. And we will continue

         14  to fight to make sure that funding for basic social

         15  services for survivors doesn't get cut.

         16                 New York City already has the

         17  strongest human rights law in the country. With this

         18  bill's clarification of the human rights law, we

         19  hope to further develop the Council's work to

         20  address intimate violence.

         21                 Thank you very much, and, obviously,

         22  we've been joined by a number of our colleagues that

         23  will be coming in. Council Member Bill Perkins has

         24  joined us.

         25                 Now we will hear a word from Council
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          2  Member Gale Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Boyland, and Council Member DeBlasio.

          5  I think I share everyone else's view that you have

          6  done tremendous work, particularly, Tracy Boyland,

          7  on this issue. Only when you are in the community

          8  and both survivors and providers who are talking

          9  about the challenges of domestic violence and they

         10  mention your name over and over again do you realize

         11  your impact. So, congratulations. I hear it often.

         12                 I just want to add my name as a

         13  sponsor to 305 and mention a couple of things. One

         14  is, in a district like ours where you have a huge

         15  number of stabilized apartments in a City where

         16  there are a million rentals, in a community that is

         17  often considered a real estate challenge, in terms

         18  of renters and tenants and owners, there is a lot of

         19  discrimination. This is unfortunately just one more

         20  example. The Commission on Human Rights is an agency

         21  often forgotten about but plays a very big role in

         22  our City. I often wish it had more attorneys and

         23  more operations to be able to go out and do stings

         24  for particularly in the housing discrimination

         25  world. There is a great deal that needs to be
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          2  adjusted. I hope this bill passes. I think it will.

          3  And that the Commission on Human Rights is able to

          4  give it some teeth and put some staff to make sure

          5  that discrimination against domestic violence

          6  victims, as well as others, is taken into great

          7  consideration.

          8                 I know that the Housing Authority

          9  under our friend Nora Reissig-Lazzaro has a long

         10  history of paying attention to this particular

         11  issue. Somebody who certainly cares about it is her

         12  background. We look forward to their testimony.

         13                 Thank you very much for the

         14  opportunity to say a few words.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You're welcome.

         16  And now we will welcome Deputy Majority Leader

         17  Perkins.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         19  to ask two procedural questions. Are we voting on

         20  this today first?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: No. First

         22  hearing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Just

         24  wanted to be sure, sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Secondly, I

          3  just want to make sure that my name is added as a

          4  prime sponsor. I want to commend both Chairwoman

          5  Boyland and Chairman Bill DeBlasio for their

          6  outstanding leadership, not only on this particular

          7  measure, but also on similar measures in which these

          8  two communities have come together to present to the

          9  Council and to the public issues that are very

         10  relevant, particularly to women in this case, but in

         11  general.

         12                 I wanted to just say a few words in

         13  that regard and to commend you for what you've done

         14  and to make sure that my name is added as a sponsor.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. I

         17  would also like to note by virtue of a thing called

         18  "human error" that my name is not on as co-sponsor

         19  and should be, and we are fixing that immediately.

         20  Obviously, I was a co-sponsor last year, and intend

         21  to continue forcefully. I've never understood why

         22  that doesn't happen automatically.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Technically,

         24  it's supposed to happen automatically, unless the

         25  member otherwise -- I thought the rule --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Indicates, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: -- Was going

          4  to be changed so that you automatically -- unless

          5  you decide to take and let folks know. Because

          6  administratively it's easier to put you back on

          7  automatically unless you decide, oops, I don't want

          8  to be on it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Actually, we

         10  will ask Counsel to pursue that issue and let the

         11  members of the Committee know actually what the rule

         12  is. That rings true and I certainly hope that is the

         13  rule going forward.

         14                 Okay, we welcome our first panel. Let

         15  me also say, again, that whenever David Yassky is

         16  able to come over, we look forward to hearing from

         17  him. He really does deserve tremendous credit for

         18  having so forcefully moved both last year's

         19  legislation and focused on this year's legislation.

         20                 Our representatives in the

         21  Administration, and we have three if I'm reading

         22  this correctly, Okay, Cliff Mulqueen of the Human

         23  Rights Commission; Michelle Pinnock of NYCHA and

         24  Nora Reissig-Lazzaro of NYCHA. Please step forward.

         25                 I've known Nora the longest. I shall
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          2  let her go first, but I guess that's not the right

          3  standard to hold. Who would like to go first?  You

          4  guys decide.

          5                 MR. MULQUEEN: I guess I'm elected.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: All right.

          7                 MR. MULQUEEN: Chairman DeBlasio,

          8  Chairwoman Boyland, other members of the Council,

          9  good afternoon. I want to begin by apologizing for

         10  the absence of Commissioner Gatling. She had a

         11  pre-existing appointment.

         12                 I also want to thank Council Member

         13  Yassky and the other sponsors of this bill for

         14  incorporating the concerns of the Commission into

         15  this new draft. We are pleased that the Council is

         16  seeking to amend the Human Rights Law to extend the

         17  same protections for victims of domestic violence,

         18  sex offenses and stalking, currently offered in the

         19  employment setting, to the area of housing.

         20                 We do, however, have some concerns

         21  including language in the bill that appears to

         22  extend protection to members of the family. That

         23  language was discussed in relation to Intro 107A and

         24  ultimately was removed from what became Local Law

         25  75.
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          2                 In addition, the proposal uses or

          3  attempts to define the word owner and includes in

          4  the definition of owner, the words lessor, lessee,

          5  sub-lessee, assignee and managing agent. This

          6  creates some concern for us. These words are used

          7  throughout the law and they're not currently defined

          8  presumably because their meanings are self-evident.

          9                 We would suggest that the Council

         10  continue to rely on the plain language definitions

         11  of these words so that we otherwise will have to

         12  change other aspects of the law, as well where these

         13  words are used.

         14                 I'm also aware that NYCHA has some

         15  concerns about this proposal and I was going to

         16  briefly speak about them when they were going to

         17  testify later. But specifically their concerns

         18  include that the proposal can be interpreted to

         19  release tenants from their prior obligations to the

         20  landlord, rent arrears and things of that nature,

         21  and not just any future obligations, that there's no

         22  requirement that the tenant have to notify the

         23  landlord that they're vacating the premises, even if

         24  it's a one-day notice. NYCHA needs to be notified so

         25  that apartment can be rented to somebody else.
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          2                 There's also some confusion that may

          3  be created by the disparity in certification

          4  requirements that NYCHA has in order to move

          5  someone, as opposed to what this bill --

          6  certification that this bill outlines for the

          7  purpose of release from tenancy. Again, they'll

          8  speak about these issues in more detail.

          9                 Lastly, the Law Department expressed

         10  concern that permitting a tenant to be released from

         11  a contract under these circumstances may violate

         12  state law which generally governs real estate

         13  transactions. They are going to be researching those

         14  issues and get back to the Administration on that.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 MS. PINNOCK: Good afternoon, Chairman

         17  DeBlasio and Chairwoman Boyland and members of the

         18  committees. I am Michelle Pinnock, Assistant Deputy

         19  General Manager for Community Operations for the New

         20  York City Housing Authority. (clapping)

         21                 I am here today to testify --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Is that

         23  applause for you?

         24                 MS. PINNOCK: I hope so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Very impressed.
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          2  It's the first witness to be applauded.

          3                 MS. PINNOCK: I brought my own support

          4  team. I am here to testify with regard to Intro No.

          5  305, which would prohibit housing discrimination for

          6  actual or perceived victims of domestic violence, a

          7  sex offense or stalking and its potential impact on

          8  public housing.

          9                 Joining me today is Nora

         10  Reissig-Lazzaro, who her name has been mentioned

         11  several times, who is our wonderful Director of

         12  Social Services for the Housing Authority.

         13                 As a governmental agency, NYCHA is an

         14  atypical landlord in that, in addition to providing

         15  affordable housing to low- and moderate-income New

         16  Yorkers, we have a longstanding commitment to

         17  supportive services and policies that enhance the

         18  quality of life of public housing residents,

         19  including victims of domestic violence.

         20                 The New York City Housing Authority

         21  is highly sensitized to the seriousness of domestic

         22  violence and the needs of its victims. In fact, as

         23  you may know, we have made protection of victims of

         24  domestic violence one of our highest priorities.

         25                 This is evident in NYCHA's admissions
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          2  and transfer processes and the range of support

          3  services we provide.

          4                 Let me begin with an overview of that

          5  process and some of these services.

          6                 New applicants for public housing who

          7  are victims of domestic violence are given a second

          8  highest admission priority after City-referred

          9  homeless families, which results in expedited

         10  processing and placement. For victims of domestic

         11  violence already residing in public housing, our

         12  Emergency Transfer Program confidentially relocates

         13  residents and their children in the interest of

         14  safety.

         15                 Last October, Mayor Bloomberg

         16  announced several measures designed to increase the

         17  safety of victims of domestic violence by

         18  streamlining access to public and subsidized

         19  housing; which enabled NYCHA to be even more

         20  responsive to the needs of this population. For both

         21  new admissions and emergency transfers, NYCHA has

         22  been successful in streamlining its required

         23  criminal background check process by seven to ten

         24  days.

         25                 Additionally, the Housing Authority
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          2  modified its policies to allow VDV applicants and

          3  emergency transfers the option of relocating within

          4  their borough. Previously, domestic violence victims

          5  were required to leave their boroughs of residence

          6  as a condition of relocation for safety purposes.

          7  Working with the Mayor's Office, residents and

          8  domestic violence advocates, we devised a way

          9  through the use of zip code designated zones to

         10  ensure geographic distance from offenders while

         11  preserving victims established local support

         12  systems. Now, victims of domestic violence

         13  applicants and transferees in every borough, except

         14  Staten Island, may choose to stay in their current

         15  borough of residency.

         16                 To enhance and accelerate our

         17  processes further, NYCHA is changing its policy such

         18  that victim of domestic violence status can be based

         19  on a single felony offense that resulted in serious

         20  injury rather than two incidents as previously

         21  required. Again, this is through our collaborative

         22  work with advocates and the Mayor's Office.

         23                 In addition to the expedited

         24  provisions of affordable housing, comprehensive

         25  domestic violence services are available to NYCHA
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          2  residents through the Domestic Violence

          3  Intervention, Education and Prevention Program

          4  (DVIEP). NYCHA contracts actually with Safe Horizon

          5  to administer this program.

          6                 A recognized national domestic

          7  violence prevention model, the DVIEP Program

          8  incorporates a joint social services and law

          9  enforcement approach and operates out of the City's

         10  Police Service Areas. Through DVIEP and in

         11  collaboration with Safe Horizon, we also reach out

         12  to victims of domestic violence as well as work to

         13  increase awareness and sensitivity through community

         14  presentations and public awareness campaigns.

         15                 Every year, NYCHA employees in

         16  departments that have the most interaction with the

         17  public receive domestic violence intervention and

         18  prevention training. A new curriculum was recently

         19  developed specifically for applications and leased

         20  housing staff. NYCHA is also collaborating with the

         21  Mayor's office to combat domestic violence on a

         22  pilot program known as Domestic Violence Response

         23  Teams Divert designed to enhance the safety of

         24  domestic violence victims and their children through

         25  interagency case conferencing and planning.
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          2                 In the effort to provide the utmost

          3  in protection to victims of domestic violence,

          4  public policy changes can have unintended

          5  consequences. Thus, in view of NYCHA's ongoing

          6  commitment to combat domestic violence, I would like

          7  to share NYCHA's concerns about the proposed bill.

          8                 The Housing Authority manages and

          9  maintains a scarce resource; public housing in New

         10  York City. As you may know, NYCHA's annual apartment

         11  vacancy rate is one percent. As a result, as a

         12  government agency, we believe that we have a

         13  responsibility for and are committed to ensuring

         14  that families with the greatest need have access to

         15  the limited number of available units. Currently,

         16  NYCHA has specific eligibility criteria and

         17  documentation requirements that assist in this

         18  endeavor.

         19                 We are concerned that some broad

         20  language in the bill would have the unintended

         21  consequence of making many of the aforementioned

         22  policies and programs less effective in our ability

         23  to provide permanent housing to victims of domestic

         24  violence in an expedited manner.

         25                 For example, in our estimation, the
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          2  bill's provisions defining the type of documentation

          3  needed to certify victim status are too vague and

          4  susceptible to fraud. The current language will

          5  significantly expand the number of people qualified

          6  for NYCHA's priority status as victims of domestic

          7  violence; thus, having the unintended effect of

          8  making waits longer for public housing and emergency

          9  transfers. At a minimum, we recommend that a police

         10  or court report be required to establish status as a

         11  victim of domestic violence.

         12                 It is also a concern of the Housing

         13  Authority that Intro 305 does not include a time

         14  frame by which a person can claim status as a victim

         15  of domestic violence. It has been NYCHA's experience

         16  that having a time frame from the date of an

         17  incident has helped us target the limited number of

         18  available public housing apartments to victims with

         19  the most imminent need.

         20                 Distinctive from other landlords,

         21  NYCHA's current policy allows residents to terminate

         22  their lease agreement with only 30 days notice to

         23  the Authority. From the Housing Authority's

         24  perspective as written, this bill does not require

         25  residents to provide notice of intent to vacate
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          2  their apartments. Without advanced notice and given

          3  the vastness of the Authority, it is possible that

          4  apartments will sit empty for some undetermined

          5  length of time instead of being utilized by another

          6  needy family.

          7                 Lastly, as written, Intro 305 is

          8  susceptible to fraud. With the inclusion of

          9  individuals perceived to be victims, the broad

         10  certification standards and given that the bill can

         11  be interpreted as relieving residents from paying

         12  past due rent, this proposed legislation has the

         13  potential to be abused and, for the Housing

         14  Authority, actually block access to apartments,

         15  public housing apartments, and support services for

         16  true victims of domestic violence.

         17                 To conclude, NYCHA shares the

         18  Committee's concern in protecting victims of

         19  domestic violence from discrimination in housing. We

         20  believe that the standards and practices already in

         21  place in public housing are beneficial for victims

         22  of domestic violence and do not discriminate. We

         23  urge that the Council modify Intro 305 accordingly.

         24  I'll be happy to answer any questions. Thank you.

         25                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Michelle said
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          2  it all, so we're to combined testimony for us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay. Let me

          4  see if first of all my fellow Chair has questions

          5  for any of our witnesses.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Sure. First

          7  question is in regard to the statement that was

          8  made, at a minimum we recommend that a police or

          9  court report be required to establish status as a

         10  victim of domestic violence. Is it true or false

         11  that the police report is already a part of the

         12  process? Are you talking about victims entering into

         13  New York City housing or victims that are living

         14  there permanently now?

         15                 MS. PINNOCK: Within the Housing

         16  Authority, we do require, both for applicants that

         17  qualify for victims of domestic violence, as well as

         18  transferees, to have an order of protection, as well

         19  as another police report. So, really our

         20  recommendation and request is that the bill

         21  specifies that at least as a requirement. I think as

         22  it reads now it says that, or a number of other

         23  items would be considered as having someone be

         24  eligible for qualifying for the status.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I just want a
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          2  clarification on what the rules are now from

          3  domestic violence victims. We've already established

          4  a process that you need in order of protection or to

          5  get into New York City Housing, and we just need

          6  some clarification. Can you give us an answer on how

          7  many apartments now are available within New York

          8  City Housing for domestic violence victims?

          9                 MS. PINNOCK: I can get back to you

         10  with an exact number of available apartments. As you

         11  know, that number changes every day. As I mentioned,

         12  the status, a priority status for victims of

         13  domestic violence is the second highest priority

         14  behind City referred homeless families. And then

         15  there are a few other priorities that the Housing

         16  Authority has. So, it's not that there is a set

         17  amount allocated just for victims of domestic

         18  violence, but they're given the second highest

         19  priority. I could find out. As I said, it's moving

         20  target in terms of overall number of available

         21  units.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Definitely.

         23  Because I thought that since New York City Housing

         24  Authority is quasi, I guess federal and state, that

         25  there was an allocation that goes in terms of
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          2  housing dollars from Section 8 on down for the

          3  amount of apartments that are available for people

          4  coming from the Department of Homeless Services,

          5  people coming to the Domestic Violence Units from

          6  Safe Horizon. Whatever the situation may be that

          7  there was a set number and our issue is always that

          8  there is not enough apartments available for

          9  domestic violence victims to move them out of the

         10  temporary housing situation into a permanent housing

         11  situation in housing. I would like that to be

         12  addressed at some point. I talked to your

         13  Commissioner in length and he's screaming and

         14  yelling, but we really need to really increase that

         15  amount in terms of permanent housing for domestic

         16  violence victims.

         17                 MS. PINNOCK: Chairwoman, if I could

         18  clarify, we do have a goal in terms of numbers of

         19  families that we receive referrals from the City's

         20  referred homeless shelter as well as domestic

         21  violence shelters. But it's not limited to just

         22  those entities. Anyone can come in themselves and

         23  apply and if they can provide the documentation, can

         24  be considered eligible or receive that priority

         25  status. So, we do have a set number --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: There is a set

          3  number.

          4                 MS. PINNOCK: -- Or goal. Yes. But

          5  it's not limited to that, I would say.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Okay. On the

          7  question in working with Domestic Violence Response

          8  Team designed to enhance the safety of domestic

          9  violence victims, so there is a set agency within

         10  New York City Housing. For example, if a mom is

         11  assaulted or a victim of domestic violence in

         12  Brooklyn, that lives in New York City Housing now,

         13  is there a set way to move her from another borough

         14  besides Brooklyn. Is there a clinical or social

         15  worker that's working within New York City Housing

         16  that sets that up?

         17                 MS. PINNOCK: I'll have Nora respond

         18  and give you a little more details about actual

         19  programs.

         20                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Okay. Thank

         21  you. Good afternoon. New York City Housing Authority

         22  has several programs for residents residing in

         23  public housing. We have a Social Services Department

         24  which does locate in all our boroughs social

         25  workers. We actually have clinical units where the
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          2  social workers are housed. We also have specificized

          3  programs for domestic violence victims specifically.

          4  The Emergency Transfer Program which was mentioned

          5  earlier. Anyone living in any of NYCHA's housing

          6  developments may apply for an emergency transfer as

          7  a victim of domestic violence.

          8                 If the family has specific needs that

          9  need to be attended to by a social worker, they

         10  would also be referred for those services in

         11  conjunction. We also have an Aftercare Program.

         12  Anyone who's approved for an emergency transfer as a

         13  victim of domestic violence is offered. It's a

         14  voluntary service, our Domestic Violence Aftercare

         15  Program. We've been providing emergency transfers

         16  for many years and one of the things that we've

         17  learned is that it's not enough to simply physically

         18  relocate somebody. You can't just pick them up from

         19  one community and put them down in a new community

         20  and say okay, now, start a new life. What we've done

         21  is created the Aftercare Program which provides

         22  services pre- transfer, transitional services during

         23  the actual transfer process and post- transfer. The

         24  same social worker engages me to assess the family

         25  at the pre- transfer stage where most of the
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          2  services are focused on safety planning in

          3  supportive services.

          4                 The system in doing the application

          5  for the -- not the application for the transfer, but

          6  whatever it is that they need. Whether they need to

          7  move their public assistance case with them. All of

          8  what we call logistics related to the physical move

          9  during the transition phase. They will physically go

         10  with them to view the apartment when they are

         11  offered the apartment and they will assist them in

         12  touring the neighborhood in getting acclimated to

         13  the community. And really making sure that that's

         14  the move that they want to make for themselves. They

         15  also provide supportive services and referrals for

         16  the children.

         17                 At the post- transfer stage, they

         18  really help them focus on, okay, now what do I want

         19  to do with my life be it going back into the job

         20  market, going back to school, becoming employed,

         21  finding services, schools, et cetera for the

         22  children. So, really the focus at the post- transfer

         23  stage becomes personal development and growth at

         24  that point in the process.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: If they're on
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          2  public assistance, do you work with HRA or their

          3  social worker? So, they are actually two social

          4  workers working with the domestic violence victim?

          5                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Well, actually

          6  once they become part of the Aftercare Program,

          7  there is a primary social worker who becomes the

          8  case manager for them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND:

         10                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: We coordinate

         11  services with other agencies including HRA. Whatever

         12  services they're deemed to need at the different

         13  times in the process. It's a sort of wrap around

         14  service approach and it's a very comprehensive

         15  model.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I asked that

         17  because a lot of the domestic violence victims have

         18  children, ACS, they have vouchers with day care,

         19  school, Section 8 application, public assistance

         20  application. That's about four agencies connected to

         21  that one family. And that one social worker

         22  obviously needs to have dialogue in some sort of

         23  transfer of responsibility on that.

         24                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Absolutely. It

         25  can be very overwhelming. So, we do try to
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          2  coordinate all those services.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And how many

          4  social workers do you have?

          5                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Well, we have,

          6  the Social Services Department as a whole, has

          7  approximately 260 staff. The Aftercare Program has

          8  four staff who do just the emergency transfer cases

          9  and they'll coordinate. The one borough that we

         10  don't cover with the Aftercare Program is Staten

         11  Island. Because of the need to provide continuity in

         12  services, the same worker who picks up the case --

         13  let's say somebody lives in Manhattan and they

         14  decide to transfer to Brooklyn. The same social

         15  worker will follow that family to Brooklyn. Because

         16  of the travel logistics, Staten Island is covered by

         17  our social workers in our regular programs on Staten

         18  Island. So, the Aftercare Program covers only the

         19  four boroughs. We do have, like I said, clinical

         20  units with certified social workers and they also

         21  provide assistance in coordinating services.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Council Member

         23  Perkins wants to know if we're exciting people that

         24  much --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Perkins hears
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          2  an opportunity for applause next door. He's going to

          3  rush over.

          4                 MS. PINNOCK: We think our programs

          5  are exciting. I also just want to add that we also

          6  have several points of entry for those interested in

          7  transferring. Either through their local management

          8  office, through the contract that I mentioned, the

          9  DVIEP contract with Safe Horizon or directly through

         10  any of our Social Services offices. We have over 50

         11  different offices for Social Services staff that may

         12  focus on a variety of different needs and issues.

         13  But all have participated in domestic violence

         14  training and can at least make the referral to our

         15  Emergency Transfer Program.

         16                 In fact, in October of '02, the

         17  agency has started a new initiative targeting

         18  homeless families relocating from Tier 2 shelters.

         19  We made a point to incorporate into that program

         20  transition services to support VDV applicants.

         21  Because, again, the Emergency Transfer is focusing

         22  on the transfer side. We can do similar services to

         23  Aftercare before those now just coming into the

         24  system.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And 260 staff
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          2  members for Aftercare within an additional four.

          3  That is enough to deal with this population.

          4                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: It's 260 staff

          5  member approximately for the entire Social Services

          6  Department. The Aftercare Program has four staff who

          7  focus on the domestic violence transfer population.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: One, two, three,

          9  four?

         10                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: Four staff,

         11  yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Interesting. To

         13  the Humans Right Commission and I don't want to

         14  leave you out, please clarify the problem the

         15  Administration sees with the bill under State law

         16  when it comes to releasing tenants from their

         17  contract.

         18                 MR. MULQUEEN: I wish I could, but I

         19  can't. In the Law Department last night indicated

         20  that there may be some issues. But they didn't give

         21  us any specifics. They're investigating whether or

         22  not there's, in fact, a conflict with State law.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And you will get

         24  back to us with an answer on that?

         25                 MR. MULQUEEN: Yes, ma'am.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you very

          3  much. Mr. Chair?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair. First of all, I'd like to welcome two

          6  of our colleagues have joined us, Council Member

          7  Oliver Koppell of the Bronx and Council Member Diana

          8  Reyna of Brooklyn. I want to thank her for the

          9  excellent work she's done on this issue as well.

         10                 I want to raise a concern from the

         11  NYCHA testimony. I just want to preface it for a

         12  moment. First of all, I want to thank everyone from

         13  the Administration. It's obvious from your testimony

         14  how much you care about the issue and how much

         15  you're trying to work with us productively to take

         16  the step forward. I hope everyone is listening

         17  understands that this is a, how do we get this done

         18  right conversation. There's no difference between us

         19  in terms of goal. We appreciate that.

         20                 I'm not sure how many or the three

         21  witnesses were familiar with what we went through

         22  last year where there were some differences and it

         23  ultimately got resolved. On the question of

         24  providing emergency shelter for victims of domestic

         25  violence and I think there was a good faith
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          2  difference between the Council and the

          3  Administration. As I say, it got ultimate resolved

          4  through negotiation. But I think it's very pertinent

          5  to the NYCHA testimony. The Council felt that if

          6  there was any chance that someone who needed

          7  emergency shelter because they were victim of

          8  domestic violence was going to be turned away at the

          9  Emergency Assistant Unit, if there's any chance of

         10  that because of overly stringent documentation

         11  requirements, that we want to lower that bar.

         12                 We heard ample testimony of very,

         13  very troubling cases where I'm sure perfectly well

         14  meaning City workers and case workers and officials

         15  chose not to grant emergency shelter. We felt that

         16  we needed to make a much clearer and simpler

         17  standard to get people in need to emergency shelters

         18  almost seamlessly. Because we're talking about a

         19  potential life and death situation. We resolved that

         20  amicably.

         21                 The reason I raise the concern is

         22  that at the time of those hearings, we fully

         23  understood, of course, anytime you relax standards,

         24  there is the potential for someone to take negative

         25  advantage of that. But we said, there's something
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          2  more important at stake here. It was crucial that

          3  not a single person be doubly victimized because of

          4  a bureaucratic misunderstanding. I take you forward

          5  now to page eight of your testimony and I appreciate

          6  that you're saying that you would prefer a different

          7  type of documentation than what's talked about in

          8  this bill. You say at a minimum you would recommend

          9  a police or a court report.

         10                 I understand the logic. We long since

         11  as a committee and as a Council have made our

         12  priority different and our approach different. But I

         13  would also like to note that when we debated and

         14  negotiated last year over what was effectively the

         15  companion piece to this bill, ultimately 107A, which

         16  ensured protections for victims and survivors of

         17  domestic violence in terms of employment. That after

         18  much negotiation with the Administration, the

         19  Administration preferred a broader definition.

         20  Correct me Council, if I'm saying anything wrong.

         21  I'm turning to Council to make sure I get my wording

         22  right. I'll get kicked under the table if I don't.

         23                 My point here is, I think, NYCHA

         24  which obviously is a free- standing entity in many

         25  ways, is expressing in its testimony its own
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          2  experience of what works and what doesn't and its

          3  own concerns. But I would like to say the

          4  Administration as a whole was comfortable in the

          5  negotiations over 107A with the type of broader

          6  definition you see in the current draft of this

          7  legislation. I don't know if you have a response to

          8  that.

          9                 MS. PINNOCK: Yes, not in contrast to

         10  the Administration, I think I mentioned somewhat my

         11  testimony is that for NYCHA and public housing,

         12  we're not a typical landlord. And some of that is

         13  demonstrated through all the programs and policies

         14  we have in place. In terms of not having a minimum

         15  for us, it can actually have an adverse effect to

         16  the intent of the bill. I think that's our concern.

         17  Again, of course, we want to help as many victims of

         18  domestic violence as possible and their families,

         19  but at the same time, we don't want to create a

         20  demand such that we can't meet and then we end up

         21  kind of hurting a larger number.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Well, again, I

         23  know you're saying that in good faith and I

         24  certainly respect that. We would not want people

         25  taking advantages of this bill and taking up spaces
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          2  that should be going to deserving survivors of

          3  domestic violence or to the homeless families or

          4  others in need. I fully appreciate that. But I would

          5  urge you, first of all, to check in with the whole

          6  Administration about how we handled it last time to

          7  understand why they to saw the virtues of broader

          8  definition.

          9                 Second, I'd urge you to remember

         10  that, I always try and think of legislation in terms

         11  of the worse case scenario and not the best case

         12  scenario. The worse case scenario would be and I'll

         13  use a woman as an example because tragically it

         14  usually is a woman. A woman who had not gone to the

         15  police out of fear or out not feeling she could or

         16  whatever the reason might have been or maybe someone

         17  who had some type of documentation at one point and

         18  that documentation was lost when they fled a

         19  situation. A number of situations that could mean

         20  there either wasn't ever a record or there wasn't

         21  available record. We wouldn't want to stand in the

         22  way for a second of that woman getting housing.

         23                 The other types of documentation or

         24  proof that we talk about, I don't think in general

         25  those are things that people come by lightly.
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          2  Whether it's from a medical institution or a clergy

          3  member or whatever it might be. I think it requires

          4  efforts still. But it does ensure that we're not

          5  narrowing the definition so much that we could have

          6  someone in front of our eyes who clearly was a

          7  victim, but perhaps never got to go to the police in

          8  time. So, therefore, never had that paper trail and

          9  doesn't fit the standards that we would pass in law.

         10  I think that would be the worst of all situations.

         11  And we need to be a little more flexible to

         12  recognize reality.

         13                 By the way, especially among

         14  immigrants and particularly among undocumented

         15  immigrants for whom language barriers alone might

         16  have caused them not to go to the police or the

         17  court system. But for whom other types service

         18  providers might have proof of what they've been

         19  through. I would urge you to consider that as we

         20  continue these discussions.

         21                 We want to welcome Council Member

         22  Sarah Gonzalez from my neighboring district in

         23  Brooklyn. Next question is from Council Member Bill

         24  Perkins.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you
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          2  very much. First with respect to the Administration,

          3  in your opening remarks you made referenced to some

          4  concerns that the Administration had particularly

          5  with regard to owners and other family members. Am I

          6  correct?

          7                 MR. MULQUEEN: Yes, sir. There were

          8  two separate concerns.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. Could

         10  you elaborate a little bit on those concerns? You

         11  didn't quite spell it out. You just sort of

         12  acknowledged it and I wanted it to be clear exactly

         13  what it was that was problematic with you.

         14                 MR. MULQUEEN: In the certification

         15  section of the proposal and I haven't found it

         16  exactly yet, it indicates that a victim can provide

         17  the following the certifications to show that either

         18  he or she or a member of their family is a victim of

         19  domestic violence. That was also part of the

         20  proposal for 107A and the Administration's opinion

         21  that seems to be attempting to extend the

         22  protections of the human rights law not only to the

         23  victim of domestic violence, stalking or sex

         24  offenses but also to a member of that individual's

         25  household. If a member, I don't know that this --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is the

          3  problem from your point of view? Assuming your

          4  interpretation that it allows for that type of

          5  extension, where is the problem from your point of

          6  view?

          7                 MR. MULQUEEN: If someone who has the

          8  lease to a particular apartment is not the actual

          9  victim, but it's a member of that person's household

         10  whether it be a relative that's living with them or

         11  an adult child, if that person becomes the victim of

         12  domestic violence, the question is should the lease

         13  holder still be able to quit the lease under this

         14  law. It kind of extends that protection to household

         15  members not just the lease holder.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'm the lease

         17  holder. I'm not the victim. He is the lease holder.

         18  He is the victim. You're saying that the law should

         19  not apply to that person. It should only apply to

         20  me.

         21                 MR. MULQUEEN: What's his relationship

         22  to you?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: He's a member

         24  of the family.

         25                 MR. MULQUEEN: I don't know if the
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          2  intent of the law is to say a brother or a cousin

          3  who is living with you who is a victim of domestic

          4  violence. Is it the intent of the law to allow the

          5  leaseholder to quit the lease because of that fact?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: To quit the

          7  lease you said?

          8                 MR. MULQUEEN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         10                 MR. MULQUEEN: Because that's what

         11  this law allows. It allows the victim of domestic

         12  violence, stalking or sex offenses to quit their

         13  lease without further obligation. That's really all

         14  we're talking about here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. I just

         16  wanted to be clear with that. Because I wasn't clear

         17  when you made your opening remarks.

         18                 MR. MULQUEEN: When I was referring to

         19  owner, this proposal attempts to define the word

         20  owner. In defining the word owner, it basically

         21  includes lessee, lessors, sub- lessee, assignee's

         22  and managing agents as a definition of what an owner

         23  is. There is no where else in the human rights law

         24  that any of those terms are defined. Basically it

         25  says an owner, a lessor, lessee, a sub- lessee,

                                                            41

          1  WOMEN'S ISSUES AND GENERAL WELFARE

          2  assignee or managing agent. It can't discriminate

          3  against these following groups of people. But it

          4  never describes -- it never defines an owner as one

          5  of those other five or six categories of people. So,

          6  if we define it here with regard to domestic

          7  violence victims in an employment or housing

          8  setting, then we're going to have to go and apply

          9  that definition to public accommodations and to

         10  other aspects of the law.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that you

         12  don't want to do?

         13                 MR. MULQUEEN: It seems that the

         14  definitions as they exist now work fine. So, why

         15  change it?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: From your

         17  point of view, if it was consistent with the present

         18  definitions, it does not exclude all the other sub-

         19  definitions, so to speak?

         20                 MR. MULQUEEN: I think the way the law

         21  should read is that an owner, lessor, lessee, sub-

         22  lessee, managing agent or assignee may not

         23  discriminate against someone in the housing setting

         24  because they're a victim of domestic violence,

         25  stalking, or sex offenses.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          3  very much. Let me ask a question with regard to the

          4  Housing Authority. How much domestic violence takes

          5  place within public housing? Do you have any

          6  statistics in that regard?

          7                 MS. PINNOCK: Yes, from the Police

          8  Department, we know that the Police Department

          9  received over 24,000 domestic incident reports from

         10  public housing residents into 2003. That may be

         11  beyond just what you would think of domestic

         12  violence. It could be arguments against varying

         13  degrees. But just in terms of the numbers of

         14  domestic incidents reports, it's over 24,000.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You don't

         16  have the sort of domestic violence kind of number

         17  versus a domestic incident?

         18                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: What we use is

         19  the domestic incident reports that are filed with

         20  the Police Department with NYCHA residents. So, just

         21  based on the DIR's, a Domestic Incident Report,

         22  there's over 24,000 last year. So, far for the first

         23  quarter this year, almost 7,000 filed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

         25  what percentage of that would be considered domestic
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          2  violence? Would you have a rough estimate?

          3                 MS. REISSIG- LAZZARO: I don't know

          4  how the Police Department breaks that down. We don't

          5  have the break down here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: First, we'd

          7  like to welcome Council Member Chris Quinn. Second,

          8  next question is Council Member Oliver Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Just to

         10  clarify one of your concerns about the bill and that

         11  is the about the certification. As I understand, do

         12  you understand the bill to be limited with respect

         13  to the certification requirement to allowing the

         14  tenant to leave? That's the only thing that section

         15  requires with the certification. Is that your

         16  understanding? Housing Authority. Because you

         17  expressed concern about the certification.

         18                 MS. PINNOCK: In my reading of it, not

         19  necessarily just for release from the agreement, but

         20  it seems like also in terms of admission.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: See, that's

         22  what I thought at first too. But it doesn't seem to

         23  me to do that. If it was for admission, I think your

         24  concern is legitimate. But it seems to me all it is,

         25  as I read section two, let me read it with you. It
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          2  says, accept is provided in paragraph C, any persons

          3  prohibited by subdivision -- (end of side one --

          4  words missing) -- looks like a paragraph. But

          5  anyway, for purposes of this subparagraph,

          6  reasonable accommodation shall be limited to

          7  allowing a tenant who is a victim of domestic

          8  violence or a victim of sex offenses or stalking to

          9  terminate a rental agreement and quit the premises

         10  without further obligation under the rental

         11  agreement.

         12                 That seems to be the only things that

         13  this applies too. And if that it is all that it

         14  applies too, it seems to me that the certification

         15  requirements are right. It applies to admission, I

         16  would agree with you that a letter from a lawyer is

         17  probably not enough. Because even though I'm lawyer,

         18  sometimes lawyers will give letters without

         19  necessarily sufficient basis. But if all you're

         20  doing is releasing the tenant from the lease -- it's

         21  not only lawyers, by the way. It says any other

         22  professional service provider, whatever that means.

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Council

         24  members.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, maybe.
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          2  All I'm saying is to have the only requirement, a

          3  letter from somebody, I think is very relatively

          4  weak requirement. But if all it applies to is to let

          5  them out of the lease, it wouldn't bother me that

          6  much. I guess that's what I'm trying to clarify

          7  here. Anyway, I've raised the issue. Council can

          8  look at it and consider it. But if all it was to

          9  require them to get out of the lease, wouldn't the

         10  certification be all right the way it is?

         11                 MS. PINNOCK: Well, I do have a

         12  concern on that piece. Although, and I'll go back to

         13  that in a minute. In the beginning, under 2B, the

         14  language is and it's not clarified of actual or

         15  perceived status. The only other place where I see

         16  how we determine that is later on in the proposed

         17  bill.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, we

         19  don't need to do it line by line. I think there's an

         20  issue here. I just call it to your attention, Madam

         21  Chair. I think there's an issue as to what paragraph

         22  two is suppose to apply to. Is it applying only to

         23  releasing someone from a lease or is it apply to

         24  admitting someone to an apartment? Because I think

         25  that it if applies to admitting someone to an
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          2  apartment requiring only a letter from anyone of

          3  these people is not sufficient. I would say is not

          4  sufficient. Because unfortunately, we see horrible

          5  things. People say that they died at the World Trade

          6  Center who didn't in order to get some compensation.

          7  Unfortunately, we have to anticipate that some

          8  people to get an apartment might falsify their

          9  status. But if all it is to let them off the lease,

         10  I wouldn't be so strict. Anyway, point has been

         11  made.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you. I

         13  think Legal Counsel is looking into that now and I

         14  think that some heads and eyebrows have been raised.

         15  Thank you for that. Any other questions, Council

         16  Members? Okay. Thank you for testifying here today.

         17  Our next panel will be, we have two survivors,

         18  Clarabelle and Angela. Please come forward. Thank

         19  you, Michelle. Press the button and your voice is

         20  heard. Welcome.

         21                 MS. ALFEO. Good afternoon, ladies and

         22  gentlemen. My name is Clarabelle Alfeo and I want to

         23  thank you for the opportunity to testify in support

         24  of this important bill. I hope that my story will

         25  help you understand how important it is to make sure
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          2  that people who experience domestic violence don't

          3  have to face the added barrier of landlords who put

          4  us down and refuse to rent to us.

          5                 A couple of  years ago, I was living

          6  in Brooklyn with my then husband and my teenage

          7  daughter and son from a previous marriage. My

          8  husband was somewhat controlling, but I didn't think

          9  he was abusive. In 1999, I became pregnant. When my

         10  husband found out that I was carrying quadruplets,

         11  he became abusive.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Can we please

         13  keep the door closed in the back for the sake of the

         14  witnesses? Thank you.

         15                 MS. ALFEO: When my husband find out

         16  that I was carrying quadruplets, he became abusive

         17  trying to get me to get an abortion. A year or two

         18  after the children were born, I found out that my

         19  grown up son had a brain tumor and he came to live

         20  with us to get medical treatment. Again, my husband

         21  increased his abusive and threatening behavior.

         22                 One day in January 2002, there was a

         23  serious incident in which my husband abused and

         24  threatened to kill me. The police came. The incident

         25  was on a Saturday, so on Monday while he was at
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          2  work, I went to get a protective order. With the

          3  help of the Brooklyn DA's office, the police removed

          4  my husband from our home, arrested him and held him

          5  in jail overnight while the locks were changed so he

          6  couldn't get back in.

          7                 My initial protective order was good

          8  for one year. As soon as I got it, I applied for

          9  Section 8 voucher so I could find new housing even

         10  though my husband was not allowed to enter our home.

         11  During that year, my husband repeatedly call my cell

         12  phone, try to reroute my mail to a P.O. Box he set

         13  up and park his van and sit near the house. But he

         14  did not hurt me and the children at least until

         15  December 2002. On that day, my daughter was walking

         16  outside with two of her friends when my husband

         17  opened his van door and demanded that she get in. He

         18  held her in the van for over an hour, threatening

         19  her and touching her inappropriately. When I found

         20  out, I immediately called the police. I was angry

         21  and scared. He was eventually arrested and I got a

         22  new protective order that will last until 2006.

         23                 Around the same time, my voucher was

         24  approved and I immediately started looking for a new

         25  apartment which had to be outside of Brooklyn. I
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          2  felt I really needed to get away where my husband

          3  could not find us fast. So, I got apartment listings

          4  for Staten Island. I started a huge time consuming

          5  and degrading ordeal that lasted for half a year.

          6                 I spoke to dozens of landlords and

          7  real estate agents who made me feel like dirt and

          8  made it clear that there was no way I was going to

          9  find anyone to rent me an apartment on Staten

         10  Island. A number of people wouldn't accept Section 8

         11  vouchers at all. But even more, didn't want to deal

         12  with me because I was victim of domestic violence.

         13  One real estate lady really hurt my feelings when

         14  she said to me, Oh, you are the worse case scenario

         15  for a landlord. Someone with a Section 8 voucher and

         16  an abusive husband.

         17                 I first responded to real estate ads

         18  that said we accept Section 8 vouchers. But soon

         19  became clear to me that they meant they accepted

         20  Section 8 vouchers from people who are not domestic

         21  violence survivors. I remember calling the real

         22  estate agent listed on one ad that said it accepted

         23  vouchers. She started asking me questions. I told

         24  her I've had a Section 8 voucher (which I always

         25  told everyone), and she asked me what the basis for
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          2  my voucher was as everyone did. Then I told her it

          3  was domestic violence. She said she would call me

          4  back. Two weeks later, she told me the apartment

          5  wasn't available. But for weeks after that, I kept

          6  seeing the apartment listed as available for rent

          7  for people with Section 8 vouchers. The same thing

          8  happened to me other times. One guy said to me, I

          9  would consider renting to Section 8, but not with

         10  someone with that kind of history.

         11                 There were two reasons people gave me

         12  for why they wouldn't deal with domestic violence

         13  victims. Some people said they were worried about

         14  trouble from the abusive husbands if they found us.

         15  Some people said, you're not going to bring that

         16  here. One guy said to me, oh really, do you want me

         17  to rent an apartment so your psycho husband can come

         18  kill us all. These landlords and agents are trying

         19  to penalize women because of a man's action.

         20                 But more often, the landlords and

         21  real estate people would refuse to deal with

         22  domestic violence victims because they thought we

         23  were low- lives. They kept telling me that those

         24  sort of things don't happen to our kinds of people.

         25  What did they know about what kind of person I was?
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          2  It didn't matter that I was always a law- abiding

          3  citizen who lived in nice communities. It didn't

          4  matter that I worked for years at a good job. But

          5  that I couldn't work while I was bringing up

          6  quadruplets by myself. And it didn't matter to them

          7  that it was not my fault that I had to leave my home

          8  in Brooklyn.

          9                 One real estate agent was very

         10  sympathetic to me but explained that nice women like

         11  me have a big problem. Landlords just don't want to

         12  deal with domestic violence here on Staten Island.

         13  The whole experience was so degrading. I was

         14  constantly made to feel like I was a low- life and

         15  was told that decent people don't have that kind of

         16  experience. There were days when I could not pick up

         17  the phone to call for apartments because I could not

         18  deal with hearing another degrading remark.

         19                 I finally found an apartment in a

         20  different borough. But even my current landlord gave

         21  me a really hard time before renting to me. He held

         22  off for months and I had to get a lawyer, the DA,

         23  and the police to tell him I was okay.

         24                 I hope you will pass this bill so

         25  other women don't have to go through what I went
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          2  through. The experience was really upsetting and it

          3  took way too long for me to find a new place to

          4  live, exposing me and my children to danger. It

          5  shouldn't be this hard to get away from an abuser.

          6  Thank you for your support.

          7                 ANGELA: Good afternoon, ladies and

          8  gentlemen of the City Council. My name is Angela.

          9  That is not my real name, but I have to hide my

         10  identity because of my domestic violence situation.

         11  That is also why I'm hiding my appearance and my

         12  voice. It's hard to hide the voice.

         13                 In 1998, I got a protective order

         14  against my ex- husband and he was removed from my

         15  apartment. He kept violating the protective order.

         16  The last time in 1999, he threatened to kill me. The

         17  police arrested him and he served 18 months in jail.

         18  Around that time, I applied for a Section 8 voucher

         19  so I could move somewhere where he couldn't find us.

         20  I moved to Staten Island with my disabled mom and my

         21  two children.

         22                 In October 2003, my landlord on

         23  Staten Island was cited for a building code

         24  violation because the building was very hazardous

         25  and unsanitary. I had to leave the apartment. So, I
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          2  started contacting real estate agents and going

          3  through the Section 8 apartment listings for Staten

          4  Island.

          5                 I found an ad in the paper for an

          6  apartment for rent. I left a message for the

          7  landlord. When he called me back that night, he

          8  asked me how many people wanted to move into the

          9  apartment and who would be paying the rent. I told

         10  him it would be me, my mom and my two kids and that

         11  it would pay with Section 8 and disability. He said,

         12  okay, and we made an appointment for me to see the

         13  apartment.

         14                 When I got to the apartment, there

         15  was a Hispanic or Latino lady there who was also

         16  looking to rent. She was there with another lady who

         17  was helping her. When he was showing us the upstairs

         18  of the apartment, the landlord turned to the

         19  Hispanic lady and asked if she was with her husband.

         20  She looked uncomfortable and said no. He then asked

         21  if she had been a victim of domestic violence. She

         22  didn't answer. She was too upset. He then said he

         23  could not rent to her if she was a victim of

         24  domestic violence. His words were something thing

         25  like, some women came up to me for rentals for
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          2  victims of domestic violence. I had to tell them no.

          3  None of us landlords from Staten Island want to be

          4  involved with that and neither do the realtors. I'm

          5  sorry, but we will not rent to them.

          6                 When I heard that, I left because I

          7  knew that he would not rent to me once he found out

          8  I was a survivor of domestic violence. We spoke a

          9  couple of times after that I said I wasn't

         10  interested in the apartment.

         11                 It look me over a year to find an

         12  apartment because no one would get back to me. I

         13  remember that two different real estate agents asked

         14  me if the reason I had Section 8 was that I had been

         15  a victim of domestic violence. I said, yes. Both of

         16  them said that they would not be able to help me.

         17  One of them was a nice lady who said to me, our

         18  hearts go out to you, but these landlords don't want

         19  to deal with domestic violence.

         20                 This was a really horrible experience

         21  for me. No one should be denied housing because she

         22  is a victim or a domestic violence survivor. It is

         23  an outrage that almost a whole borough has closed

         24  its doors to DV survivors. I hope you will pass this

         25  law to make sure this doesn't happen anymore. I am a
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          2  member of the Voices of Women Organizing Project and

          3  we are looking to make sure that this system for

          4  battered women really help them. We need your

          5  support to improve the system.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

          7  ladies. It's extremely courageous for you to come

          8  forward today to testify. We know that you've been

          9  through a lot. But you are now becoming obviously

         10  the voice for other women that cannot come forward

         11  today. We appreciate your honesty and your candor

         12  here today. Council Member David Yassky has a

         13  question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         15  much Chair Boyland. First I want to just thank Chair

         16  DeBlasio, Chair Boyland for holding this hearing.

         17  We've been working together on this topic now for

         18  some time. You made, I think, very significant gains

         19  last year with the legislation that you pushed

         20  through. I'm very glad that you are continuing to

         21  focus on this because I do think that this is a

         22  significant problem that we need address with the

         23  most important thing to help a woman, mostly women,

         24  who are suffering from being victimized by intimate

         25  partner violence is to enable them to establish some
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          2  independence. And you cannot do that without a home.

          3                 Unfortunately, stories like the ones

          4  you have heard do exist. Maybe it's not hundreds and

          5  thousands times a day, but they do exist. And when

          6  they do, I think it's outrageous. People have asked

          7  me since we've been working on this, well how does

          8  landlords know. I think what this story you've heard

          9  is reason it so valuable and so important is, it

         10  illustrates Section 8 as you know, my colleagues, is

         11  virtually impossible to get nowadays except for a

         12  couple of handful circumstances. One of which is

         13  domestic violence. So, when people show up with

         14  Section 8, that's a tip off. For many that acts as a

         15  badge says may well be domestic violence situation.

         16  Folks are reluctant. People coming out of shelters.

         17  The episode that got a start on this were women

         18  coming from domestic violence shelters and landlords

         19  properly want to know, well, where do you live now.

         20  And if they say I was in a battered women's shelter,

         21  well, now you've got the problem.

         22                 I just want to thank you very much

         23  both of you for -- it's never easy to come and talk

         24  about personal, private, deeply private experiences

         25  in public. I thank you for doing it. And I want to
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          2  assure you that it's important and worthwhile to do

          3  because that's the data and the record that the

          4  government needs to respond and make sure what

          5  happen to you doesn't happen to other people. Thank

          6  you, Chairs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

          8  again. When we started the hearing, we noted Council

          9  Member Yassky, that this is really been something

         10  that you've focused on from day one. We would not

         11  have had the legislation last year, 107A, without

         12  your leadership. We wouldn't have this legislation

         13  this year without your leadership. It's making a

         14  huge impact. It's also raising the consciousness of

         15  many people. So, the legislation in and of itself is

         16  extremely important and worthy. But what we're doing

         17  in terms of the public debate brings great value as

         18  well. Thank you.

         19                 I want to welcome Council Member

         20  Larry Seabrook. I know several members have

         21  questions. I want to just say as well, it's a very

         22  moving testimony and I also appreciate your courage.

         23  In every generation on every issue, there are some

         24  people who will stand up even if it isn't easy.

         25  You're painting a picture that no one could imagine
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          2  have they haven't experienced it.

          3                 I also want to say it really is

          4  repulsive to me that there are people who look you

          5  in the eye and say, we can't help you. You're a

          6  victim of domestic violence. And that scares me. It

          7  scares me to think people would think it. It scares

          8  me even more that they feel comfortable saying it

          9  openly. I appreciate, Angela, you're very kind

         10  person to say that you appreciated the woman who

         11  said her heart went out to you. But I think one of

         12  the things this legislation is also asking us all to

         13  think about is why are we all not taking a little

         14  bit more in the way of risks to help people in need.

         15  A realty agent could turn to an owner and say, this

         16  is just wrong. We need to help this person. An owner

         17  could say, this may not be good for business, but

         18  it's something I owe the rest of humanity, if you

         19  will.

         20                 I'm not ever suggesting that someone

         21  doesn't have a right to think, well, could something

         22  bad happen here. I understand that. We had a huge

         23  controversy in my community recently as David and

         24  Sarah know over a domestic violence facility coming

         25  in. The community ultimately embraced it and

                                                            59

          1  WOMEN'S ISSUES AND GENERAL WELFARE

          2  understood it was to help women and children in

          3  need. But you can't blame anyone for initially

          4  feeling some concern or some fear. But what scares

          5  me is then people could feel that fear and then

          6  decide to do nothing and turn away. It's very, very

          7  troubling. And I'm glad that you've helped us

          8  realize just how bad it is out there for people who

          9  are struggling. Council Member Quinn has a question.

         10  Yes?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I know that

         12  when you were speaking, the TV camera was very

         13  accommodating and was not filming you. So, if you

         14  have any concerns about that, that was taken care of

         15  by Jack Sherman, Council to the Committee. I want to

         16  thank the TV station for that. During the questions,

         17  they're not going to film you either. We'll let them

         18  know when they can start filming again.

         19                 MS. ANGELA: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: There will be

         21  audio, but not your face.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you for

         23  your help and thank you to our camera person. Oliver

         24  Koppell has a question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I want to
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          2  really express my shock at this testimony. Frankly,

          3  it's amazing to me that people who are victimized as

          4  you are have faced this kind of difficulty. I was

          5  not aware of it and I appreciate this sponsor for

          6  calling this to our attention. Certainly, it

          7  requires remediation.

          8                 I was also curious with respect to

          9  you, Ms. Alfeo, with respect to the quadruplets. Is

         10  the City providing you with any support because you

         11  have to support four children at once? None? You

         12  know, Mr. Chairman, it's interesting, I guess partly

         13  because there are more instances of multiple births

         14  these days that no support is given.

         15                 In my community, when I was a child,

         16  a family had quadruplets and the City built them a

         17  house and gave them the house because they had

         18  quadruplets. And now this woman is in a situation

         19  where she can't even rent a house let alone get a

         20  house. I think that's something perhaps we ought to

         21  pay some attention to that families with this kind

         22  of burden should be given some assistance.

         23                 As I said, it's quite striking that

         24  25, well it's more than that, 40 years ago the City

         25  built a house for the family and now this very
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          2  unfortunate and brave mother can't even rent a house

          3  let alone get a free house and an apartment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. Are

          5  there any other members with questions? Okay. Thank

          6  you very, very much. We really appreciate your

          7  testimony.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Our next panel

          9  will be a combined panel from the Brooklyn District

         10  Attorney's Office and Domestic Violence Bureau,

         11  Wanda Lucibello, very good friend. Welcome, Wanda,

         12  as well as Wendy Weiser from the Legal Momentum and

         13  Felix Lopez, General Council for Safe Horizon. Come

         14  forward, Felix. Felix is becoming a regular at City

         15  Hall. Welcome back. Wanda, would you like to start?

         16                 MS. LUCIBELLO: Thank you for inviting

         17  me here today. I just want to start off by saying

         18  what some of the numbers are in Brooklyn in terms of

         19  the prosecutions that we handle. We prosecute

         20  between eight and 10,000 domestic violence cases

         21  every year. In order to handle that number of cases,

         22  we work very, very closely with counseling in our

         23  office, both in house counselors hired by the

         24  District Attorney in Brooklyn and also counselors

         25  provided to us from Safe Horizon. That partnership
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          2  between counsel and prosecutors allows us to address

          3  issues like housing which is front and center by and

          4  large the most important issue that confronts

          5  victims of domestic violence.

          6                 In fact, I would say that the issue

          7  of housing emerges as the most important issue in

          8  about 90 percent of our cases. This is from my

          9  personal interviews of literally hundreds of victims

         10  of domestic violence where victims say all of the

         11  time that put very simply if you need to get away,

         12  you need to get away quickly and you can't do it

         13  quickly enough. One of the challenges that confronts

         14  domestic violence victims is often times their own

         15  finances are tied very closely to the batter's

         16  finances. Their credit history may have been very,

         17  very damaged by the batter's. They may have no

         18  credit history at all because of the batter's

         19  control.

         20                 I would say that the impediments that

         21  we confront when we deal with victims of domestic

         22  violence in getting housing that it is usually an

         23  extremely slow process. Shelter options aren't

         24  always the best choice particularly for victims with

         25  teenage sons who are often not easily placed in
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          2  shelters. There are financial impediments. Batter's

          3  often do wreck havoc with finances. Special

          4  populations are presented with particular barriers

          5  such as the elder victims of domestic violence face

          6  often enormous hurdles in accessing decent housing.

          7                 Sometimes they, the seniors are

          8  themselves at risk for eviction because of unlawful

          9  co-inhabitants with them in the apartment whose

         10  presence can often cause a violation of the lease.

         11  They are at particular risk as are victims with

         12  disabilities.

         13                 One of the concerns, I think, that's

         14  been presented with this legislation is that victims

         15  other than the targeted victim of domestic violence

         16  are going to be at risk because of the presence of a

         17  domestic violence victim in a building or in a

         18  household. That is simply not in keeping with my

         19  experience and literally thousands of cases.

         20                 One of the characteristics of

         21  batter's is that there is a particular targeted

         22  victim and because this kind of targeting a

         23  vulnerable victim is very, very different for what

         24  example you might see in a drug dealer kind of case

         25  where the drug dealer is looking to bully a
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          2  neighborhood. The batter is typically not looking to

          3  target other than the targeted intimate partner

          4  victim.

          5                 That's largely because that person is

          6  vulnerable to wanting to forgive the batter or not

          7  wanting to call the police. And batter's know that

          8  what they do will not be tolerated by strangers and

          9  if they begin to target other people in the

         10  building, they will make themselves vulnerable more

         11  readily to prosecution often times than when they're

         12  targeting a specific victim. So, in my experience, I

         13  would say it is extremely, extremely rare in fact

         14  that people who are not the targeted victims get

         15  kind of swept up in the batter's behavior. It's just

         16  not at all common and extremely uncommon. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         18  Wanda. We'll hear from the entire panel and then we

         19  will have questions.

         20                 MS. WEISER: Thank you, Chairperson

         21  DeBlasio and Boyland and Council Members. On behalf

         22  of Legal Momentum which is the new name for the NOW

         23  Legal Defense and Education Fund, I want to thank

         24  the Council and these committees for reintroducing

         25  this important bill to ensure that women in New York
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          2  City who are victimized by domestic and sexual

          3  violence  are not re- victimized by landlords and

          4  other housing providers.

          5                 We know from our work that the

          6  practice of housing discrimination against victims

          7  is quite widespread. For the past three years, Legal

          8  Momentum has provided legal assistance to many women

          9  who, like Clarabelle and Angela, have been denied

         10  housing just because they were victims of domestic

         11  violence. To women whose landlords or co- op boards

         12  have sought to remove them from their apartments

         13  just because they were beat up, called the police,

         14  or obtained protective orders against their abusers

         15  and to women who could not get out of their leases

         16  when they had to flee their abusers.

         17                 We have submitted for inclusion in

         18  the record a document providing housing

         19  discrimination testimonials from a number of victims

         20  including the two who testified today, two others

         21  who were unable to come today and from three other

         22  New York City residents whom we assisted. These are

         23  only a sampling of the stories out there. We

         24  continually hear from service providers about the

         25  seriousness of the housing discrimination problem.
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          2  Indeed, a comprehensive study of 23 domestic

          3  violence shelters in Iowa a few years ago found that

          4  housing discrimination was one of the greatest

          5  barriers to obtaining housing for victims of

          6  violence.

          7                 If the Committee would indulge me for

          8  a few moments, I wanted to highlight the story of

          9  the two women who had wanted to testify today, but

         10  were unable to come here. The first is on the

         11  document as Karen and she's submitted written

         12  statement to the Committee. She obtained a

         13  protective order against her husband last November

         14  which excluded him from their apartment. At the end

         15  of January, he broke into her apartment and brutally

         16  attacked her in front of a security camera. She

         17  called the police. But when they couldn't apprehend

         18  him, they told her she was in danger of her life and

         19  she should stay away from her apartment until he was

         20  caught.

         21                 She fled to a shelter where she still

         22  is. Karen has a good job and a good tenant history.

         23  She didn't want to mess up her good record by ending

         24  up housing court. But she could not afford to pay

         25  rent on a new apartment and still pay rent on her

                                                            67

          1  WOMEN'S ISSUES AND GENERAL WELFARE

          2  old two- year lease. She approached us in February

          3  for advice on how to get out of her prior lease.

          4  Unfortunately, without Intro 305, Karen is out of

          5  luck. Her landlord is holding her to the terms of

          6  her lease now and has sued her in housing court.

          7                 The second story I wanted to

          8  highlight is that of a woman pseudonymously called

          9  Linda. A few years ago, Linda's husband assaulted

         10  her in their public housing apartment and was

         11  arrested. She got a protective order excluding him

         12  from the housing unit and responsibly informed the

         13  Housing Authority of the order. But soon afterward,

         14  she got a notice saying that she was being evicted

         15  along with her husband because of the assault.

         16                 Linda went through a two- year ordeal

         17  fighting the eviction. She was lucky because she had

         18  lawyers who were able to convince the Housing

         19  Authority to let her stay. But many women are not so

         20  lucky. And unless those women are in the rare

         21  situation where they can make out a sex

         22  discrimination case, they too will have no recourse

         23  until Intro 305 is passed.

         24                 Intro 305 will not only help victims

         25  like Karen, Linda, Clarabelle and Angela to get
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          2  housing, but it will also help them end the cycle of

          3  abuse. We know that the fear of retaliation from

          4  landlords prevents many victims from calling the

          5  police, reporting their abuse, and seeking

          6  protective orders. The lack of protection from

          7  housing discrimination, therefore, discourages

          8  victims from taking necessary steps to protect

          9  themselves from violence.

         10                 We also know that housing

         11  discrimination prevents many victims from leaving

         12  their abusers. A number of studies have found and I

         13  quote "the best predictor of whether a woman will

         14  stay away from her abuser is her degree of economic

         15  independence." Victims who cannot find housing often

         16  return to their abusers or can't leave their

         17  abusers. Others become homeless. We know that the

         18  majority of homeless women are or have been victims

         19  of domestic violence and the annual U.S. Conference

         20  of Mayor's Report consistently cites domestic

         21  violence as a primary cause of homelessness. While

         22  housing discrimination is only one of a number of

         23  reasons for this, enacting Intro 305 will at least

         24  reduce the incidence of homelessness among domestic

         25  violence victims.
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          2                 Before I conclude, I wanted to add a

          3  response to Wanda's eloquent response to the

          4  objection that perhaps landlords should be able to

          5  exclude domestic violence victims in order to ensure

          6  the safety of other tenants. As Wanda explained,

          7  there is no support for the claim that domestic

          8  violence victims pose any serious risk to third

          9  party tenants. I won't describe the reasons that she

         10  did so well.

         11                 I also wanted to add that this

         12  objection is also really unfair. It leaves to

         13  exactly what the abuser wants to accomplish. Leaving

         14  the victim with no where else to turn but to him.

         15  Its logic implies that domestic violence victims

         16  should be excluded from all housing even though they

         17  have done nothing wrong. This is the logic of

         18  penalizing the victim and its endpoint is an

         19  underclass of homeless victims of domestic violence.

         20  We don't want to live in a society that permits

         21  that. And so Legal Momentum strongly urges the

         22  Council to pass this essential piece of legislation.

         23  Thanks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you.

         25  Felix?
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          2                 MR. LOPEZ: Good afternoon. My  name

          3  is Felix Lopez and I am the General Counsel of Safe

          4  Horizon, the nation's leading crime victims

          5  assistance organization. Safe Horizon's mission is

          6  to provide support, prevent violence, and promote

          7  justice for victims of crime and abuse. Each year,

          8  Safe Horizon helps over 350,000 New Yorkers, many of

          9  whom are victims of domestic violence, sex offenses

         10  or stalking.

         11                 I'm here today to support Intro 305

         12  which among other things, would prohibit housing

         13  discrimination against actual or perceived victims

         14  of domestic violence, sex offenses or stalking and

         15  require landlords to make reasonable accommodation

         16  for such tenants.

         17                 As you know, Safe Horizon provides a

         18  broad and comprehensive array of legal, counseling,

         19  and practical support services for victims of

         20  domestic violence, sex offenses and stalking. We see

         21  first hand the critical need for housing protection

         22  for such victims.

         23                 Women who survive this sort of

         24  violence and not all survive, what we're really here

         25  about is protecting people whose lives are in
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          2  jeopardy, must rely on our institutions. For

          3  example, the police and the courts for protection.

          4  The troubles that attend a call to the police in

          5  such cases cannot be allowed to be the predicate for

          6  an unwarranted eviction or the basis for a denial of

          7  housing to a battered woman. In an expensive and

          8  tight housing market, women who are evicted because

          9  of domestic violence are often at the economic mercy

         10  of their abusers. It is simply unspeakable that we

         11  would countenance a state of affairs that can render

         12  a victim of domestic violence homeless or even force

         13  her back into the violent arms of her abuser.

         14                 This is not a theoretical or

         15  hypothetical problem. Women are, in fact, made

         16  homeless by domestic violence and are killed by

         17  their abusers. A survey by the U.S. Conference of

         18  Mayors found that domestic violence is a primary

         19  cause of homelessness in more than half of all

         20  American cities.

         21                 The need for the protections in the

         22  bill before you is recognized by such well-

         23  respected national entities as the American Bar

         24  Association. Last year, the ABA adopted a resolution

         25  supporting non- discrimination legislation to
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          2  protect victims of domestic violence and urging all

          3  relevant federal, state, local and territorial

          4  administrative agencies to adopt and vigorously

          5  enforce regulations to combat such discrimination.

          6                 I thank you for your time. I applaud

          7  your bill. And I hope that New York City will soon

          8  be among the jurisdictions that protect the victims

          9  of domestic violence and other violence from housing

         10  discrimination.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'd like to

         12  thank all the witnesses. The testimony was very

         13  helpful and very clear. Again, I want to point up

         14  the parallel what we recently experienced in my

         15  district in Carol Gardens. I think it is absolutely,

         16  sadly, but absolutely understandable that any

         17  community member or neighborhood or landlord would

         18  feel some hesitation. I would never blame anyone on

         19  a human level for feeling that. I think the task

         20  before us all besides creating better laws is very

         21  much task of education. As I said, the medium is the

         22  message here. We are using this legislative process

         23  to try and further an educational process.

         24                 I think you all remember or most

         25  people in this room probably remember from the
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          2  hearings last year and we had the Liz Claiborne

          3  corporation come in which was just one of the

          4  striking examples of testimony I've ever seen the

          5  last two years in terms of envisioning an entirely

          6  different way of running a company and how it

          7  sensitizes its workers around these types of issues

          8  which created a whole dynamic in the firm to protect

          9  anyone who was a victim or a survivor. It's easier

         10  to do in one firm obviously, than to do an entire

         11  City.

         12                 As legislators, we have to remember

         13  that there is a huge educational task before us

         14  here. We have to very sensitive to the legitimate

         15  fears and concerns. But we can't stop that from

         16  finding a way to do good legislation and continue

         17  that educational process. As Wendy in particular

         18  pointed out in her testimony from her experience,

         19  these tragically enough the perpetrator focuses only

         20  on the victim and no one else. That's a very sad

         21  state of affairs. But it is something important for

         22  people to understand and to open their minds about

         23  and realize that they're providing shelter. There is

         24  one person that needs to be protected.

         25                 Beyond that, I think there's a
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          2  question of the police and other agencies and what

          3  role they can play. I think this Administration

          4  deserves credit for having prioritized domestic

          5  violence. I think NYPD has come very far ahead in

          6  its work of recent years in terms of focusing more

          7  and finding better techniques for working on the

          8  issues of domestic violence.

          9                 On the other hand, landlords would

         10  probably be able to understand and grapple with this

         11  better if they had a further sense of assurance that

         12  in the event of any trouble, the NYPD would be very,

         13  very focused on providing immediate assistance. I

         14  think that's something we also have to put into the

         15  educational process. There is a lot of pieces to

         16  make this work. But your testimony is very, very

         17  helpful in pointing out what the reality is today.

         18  Chair Boyland.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. To Wanda, I guess to anyone on the panel, the

         21  human rights commission testified earlier and was

         22  not clear in terms of some of their answers. Do you

         23  see any possible problem with releasing tenants from

         24  their contract under state law?

         25                 MS. LUCIBELLO: I'm a prosecutor, I
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          2  don't really deal with the civil intricacies of

          3  housing law. So, I might not be the best person to

          4  answer that question.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Your opinion,

          6  Wanda.

          7                 MS. LUCIBELLO: I don't necessarily

          8  share in those same concerns.

          9                 MS. WEISER: We too don't share that

         10  concern. At NOW Legal Defense now Legal Momentum,

         11  it's a human rights provision. It's an anti-

         12  discrimination provision and traditionally that has

         13  not been said to be conflicting with state contract

         14  laws when there is an expansion of the human rights

         15  law.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Felix?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: We're also not concerned

         18  about that matter. People are released from their

         19  contractual obligations all the time for all sorts

         20  of good reasons. And this is certainly a good

         21  reason.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: How would you

         23  respond to the statement regarding victims to

         24  certify their status by getting a letter from Social

         25  Service providers or clergy members that would open
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          2  the door to fraud. That was the statement that was

          3  made earlier. Any member of the panel.

          4                 MS. WEISER: The statement was

          5  responded to by one of the Council Members who

          6  pointed out that this is not -- as I read the bill,

          7  it doesn't go to the admissions process. It's for

          8  getting out of the lease. So, I don't think there is

          9  any prospect for widespread fraud of people trying

         10  to leave their leases when it's not an emergency

         11  situation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: On the last

         13  issue, and this is a little off the subject. But

         14  Wanda, we're always talking about the housing issue

         15  and the safety issue and the response to temporary

         16  housing versus permanent housing and you said that

         17  in Brooklyn there are 8,000 to 10,000 cases that you

         18  see at some point. An issue came up with a domestic

         19  violence victim in regards to the order of

         20  protection. The validity, the strength of the order

         21  of protection, the victims, Clarabelle, I think it

         22  was Clarabelle, mentioned that her husband was still

         23  sitting outside of the house in a van, although she

         24  had had a four-year order of protection. I'm just

         25  looking in terms of some legal aspects; is there
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          2  something we can do or work with the District

          3  Attorney's Office, the Attorney General, whomever,

          4  to really put some stronger teeth in the order of

          5  protection process that would allow us to really

          6  speak to the statements made by our earlier or by

          7  Clarabelle about her husband still having the

          8  ability to park outside her house in a van and

          9  really, I guess, accost her daughter?

         10                 Wanda, that is a concern that comes

         11  up a lot with domestic violence victims.

         12                 MS. LUCIBELLO: Well, I think the most

         13  important thing to remember is that what the current

         14  law does is it would allow Clarabelle to call the

         15  police and actually say to them that the crime is

         16  being committed at that moment in time when she

         17  looks out the window from hopefully the safety of

         18  her home and looking at him parked at the curb is a

         19  crime. Where previously before the laws elevating

         20  criminal contempt to both misdemeanor crimes and

         21  then to felony crimes, Clarabelle would not have

         22  been able to do that because his mere presence would

         23  not have been the commission of the crime. And now

         24  it is. If he did so much as call out threats to her

         25  from that car, she can now call the police and get
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          2  that kind of a response.

          3                 We need to get a lot better about

          4  allowing her and I think what this bill is meant to

          5  do is allow her from the safety of that home to be

          6  able to not feel that it has to be a secret. So that

          7  when the police come, she doesn't have to be fearful

          8  about secondary concerns about being evicted from

          9  that apartment because now the police have shown up

         10  in front of her house and they've been able not only

         11  to arrest the batter from the front of the house,

         12  but they're able actually with evidence based

         13  prosecution, we're now able to prosecute that crime

         14  without necessarily even having Clarabelle come to

         15  court to testify. Because the police can testify to

         16  his presence at a place where he is prohibited from

         17  being. But if she doesn't feel comfortable calling

         18  the police, because her landlord is going to evict

         19  her, then that's a secondary problem that it seems

         20  to me this legislation is specifically targeted at

         21  resolving.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I'm looking at a

         23  different side of the spectrum, David. I'm looking

         24  at to strengthen the laws against offenders. If she

         25  put an order of protection out and he breaks the
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          2  law, makes those laws so tough that when she goes to

          3  another apartment or she looks for an apartment or

          4  place to live, he will know. The message has been

          5  sent by you, Wanda, that if you go within certain

          6  feet to Clarabelle that now if the law says that you

          7  get one year in jail and you get training and those

          8  things, that now you could possibly get five years

          9  in jail for being a second offender.

         10                 I'm just putting a lot more teeth in

         11  something that David and I had had a discussion

         12  about in terms of the fear that Clarabelle has and

         13  the fear that homeowners have towards tenants with

         14  Section 8 vouchers from domestic violence incident.

         15  That's just an open thought. Indeed, if it's a state

         16  law thing, we didn't need to go to Albany to try to

         17  push it as much as we can. Thank you, Legal Counsel.

         18  I appreciate that. I just wanted to say that. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Any comments?

         21  Does everyone agree? You're allowed to agree.

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: I just have one brief

         23  comment. Some folks may ask you to insert a time

         24  frame in your definitions of what it means to be a

         25  victim of domestic violence. I think --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Could you

          3  clarify? I'm sorry. When you say a time frame of

          4  what it means to be a victim.

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: That you are a victim of

          6  domestic violence if the incident occurred within

          7  the preceding six months or so. I think we have to

          8  be very careful about that. A couple of weeks ago, a

          9  former Safe Horizon client was killed by her ex-

         10  partner. Her case was closed two and half years

         11  earlier. The kinds of feelings generated by these

         12  sorts of troubled encounters can last a long time. I

         13  don't think we should be sanguine about our ability

         14  to protect people if the incident occurred six

         15  months and a day earlier or even a year. If somebody

         16  raises that time frame issue, I hope that we'll bear

         17  in mind that these feelings can last just an awful

         18  long time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Council Member

         20  Gonzalez.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Just before you

         22  do, Sarah, I'm sorry. I just wanted to finish a

         23  quick point. My apology. Do you have a proposed time

         24  frame that you are suggesting?

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I think anything
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          2  that is short is simply just out of the question. I

          3  think anything less than a year is ridiculous.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Do you have an

          5  idea?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I would think a

          7  minimum of two years. My colleagues here may think

          8  something longer may be in order.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I want to just

         10  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member

         11  Jose Serrano. Thank you gracious colleague.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Well, first

         13  of all, thank you for your testimony. I'm Council

         14  Member Gonzalez from District 38. I just want you to

         15  know just recently in my district we lost tragically

         16  two women. Other than over 3,000 calls that come to

         17  the local precinct, we've been working on a lot of

         18  domestic violence issues across the City, I

         19  understand that. But, I really am in favor of 305.

         20  To me, to allow or not go through with this

         21  particular Intro would be saying you're insult to

         22  injury. There is no way we could overlook this and I

         23  want to thank you. I want to thank Councilwoman

         24  Tracy for all the work you've done with this as well

         25  as Councilman Bill DeBlasio, my colleagues. I truly
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          2  support this and it's really important to bear in

          3  mind.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

          5  Sarah. Just before Council Member Yassky closes this

          6  issue with us to begin to look further, on the time

          7  frame issue. Wanda, can we get a response from you?

          8                 MS. LUCIBELLO: Well, actually I was

          9  listening to the suggestion that it be longer than a

         10  year. I mean, I really think that if you've been a

         11  victim of domestic violence, the threat and the

         12  intimidation can last a lifetime. I think it's very,

         13  very difficult to say that there is a finite period

         14  of time --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Should there be

         16  a time frame is the question?

         17                 MS. LUCIBELLO: -- Within which one is

         18  still at risk. Certainly what we've seen is people

         19  have sat in jail for years and years and come out

         20  ready to go after that same targeted victim years

         21  after being incarcerated. So, it's difficult for me

         22  to imagine when this period of risk and intimidation

         23  actually concludes.

         24                 MS. WEISER: I wanted to add, I don't

         25  quite see what the concern is with adding -- why one
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          2  would want to add a time frame since it's anti-

          3  discrimination piece. There is no particular benefit

          4  that somebody is getting and excluding other people

          5  from. I don't see any justification for

          6  discriminating against somebody because they were

          7  domestic violence victims 20 years ago. If that's

          8  the basis for discrimination, I don't see what

          9  positive goal it's attaining. We would probably

         10  object any time frame. Along with our colleagues at

         11  Safe Horizon, we would prefer one to be longer if

         12  one must be inserted.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Felix, you have

         14  a response?

         15                 MR. LOPEZ: Wendy Weiser is real

         16  smart. And if we came back on this issue, I would

         17  side with Wendy Weiser.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you. I

         19  appreciate your response. Council Member David

         20  Yassky.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. I

         22  think our colleague, Sarah Gonzalez really hit the

         23  nail on the head with insult to injury. That's

         24  exactly what we're talking about here.

         25  Unfortunately, it might be injury to injury if the
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          2  result is to put somebody at genuine physical risk

          3  which it might be.

          4                 Wanda, thank you very much. I really

          5  appreciate the panel. It was very helpful. Thank you

          6  for coming here to participate. I think that what

          7  you had to say in terms of the profile of the batter

          8  is extremely valuable. I do recognize and I think

          9  Bill DeBlasio spoke quite really wisely about this.

         10  You want to take seriously people's concerns that

         11  while on the one hand, I think, we want people to

         12  live up the better angels of their nature and say,

         13  I'd go out of my way to help those who need help. On

         14  the other hand, that's general not the role of

         15  government to push people to go above and beyond and

         16  do the mitzvah. That's up to their own moral code.

         17  You want to do no harm as the role of government.

         18  But here it is harm.

         19                 The argument that's been made is that

         20  as you recognized for a building owner to allow a

         21  domestic violence survivor into their building puts

         22  the other people at risk. I think your testimony, if

         23  I understood it, said that just simply is not a

         24  correct argument. I mean you're not doing that. The

         25  batter, everything that you and your 1,000 plus
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          2  cases experience shows you is that the batter is

          3  single focused on the partner and the former

          4  partner.

          5                 The profile batter is not somebody

          6  who goes, they knock on the door, they pound on the

          7  door and the victim isn't there (the former partner

          8  isn't there). They're going to go next door and beat

          9  up somebody else or stab somebody else. Right?

         10  They're focused on that person.

         11                 MS. LUCIBELLO: That's absolutely

         12  right. The batter's behavior is one of distinct

         13  single- mindedness. It is really very, very focused.

         14  It's not desperate random victims typically. Often

         15  times you hear from neighbors that they thought he

         16  was actually a pretty nice guy.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         18  That's very helpful. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you to

         20  all my colleagues. Thank you to all of our witnesses

         21  today. This joint hearing of the Women's Issues

         22  Committee and the General Welfare Committee is

         23  adjourned.

         24                 (Written testimony read into the

         25  record.)
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          2

          3  Written Testimony

             Karen Chisholm Lark

          4

          5

          6                 My name is Karen Chisholm- Lark. I am

          7  a victim of domestic violence. I was first beaten by

          8  my husband in November 2003. I went to the police

          9  and got a protective order and I kicked my husband

         10  out of our apartment. However, I continued to live

         11  in my apartment in Fear. On January 30, 2004, my

         12  husband lingered in the building and proceeded to

         13  beat me badly in the lobby, which led me to flee my

         14  apartment. The beating was caught on security

         15  cameras. I went to the police after I was beaten.

         16  They could not find my husband and they told me I

         17  had to stay away from the apartment until they found

         18  him.

         19                 Whereupon that time, I reported the

         20  situation to the manager of the apartment, who then

         21  told me there was nothing he could do. I asked if he

         22  had apartments elsewhere but to not avail. The

         23  answer was still no. So I left the apartment and

         24  tried to seek out information about what should I

         25  do, knowing very well I would not be able to pay the
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          2  rent on an apartment I no longer lived in.

          3                 The manager and I came to some kind

          4  of agreement, only for him to now follow through. I

          5  am now left with my name in housing court, which may

          6  lead me to find it hard to rent again, only because

          7  I wanted to save my life. I and so many other

          8  victims of domestic violence face this situation

          9  often. Having to vacate their homes, placing them in

         10  the hands of housing court and unable to rent again

         11  with going through the hassle of paying rent to an

         12  existing apartment where they had to just break a

         13  lease to be safe.

         14                 There must be something done to help

         15  myself and many women such as myself to be able to

         16  find safe housing without being labeled as bad

         17  tenants who just wanted to leave your apartment

         18  without the responsibility of paying rent.

         19                 So, unfortunately, without a

         20  reference letter from management about my situation,

         21  finding another place to live will be hard.

         22                 (Meeting adjourned at 3:04 p.m.)

         23
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